THE OTHER PANDEMIC: SOCIAL ISOLATION WITHIN LONG-TERM CARE FACILITIES DURING COVID-19

by

Alaina Brocklesby Bachelor of Arts, University of the Fraser Valley 2006

MAJOR PAPER SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SOCIAL WORK

in the School of Social Work and Human Services

© Alaina Brocklesby 2022

UNIVERSITY OF THE FRASER VALLEY

Spring 2022

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

Approval

Name: Alaina Brocklesby
Degree: Master of Social Work

Title: The Other Pandemic: Social Isolation in Long-Term Care Facilities During

COVID-19

Examining Committee:

Dr. Leah Douglas, BA, BSW, MSW, PhD, RCSW Master of Social Work Committee Chair Associate Professor, School of Social Work and Human Services

Jeff Wood, BSW, MSW, RSW Senior Supervisor LTA Instructor, School of Social Work and Human Services

Dr. Lisa Moy, BA, BSW, MSW, PhD, RSW Second Reader Associate Professor, School of Social Work and Human Services

Date Defended/Approved: April 2022

Abstract

Social Isolation (SI) and loneliness are a worldwide concern among those living within long-term care facilities (LTCFs). This major paper sheds light on how COVID-19, which was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO) in March of 2020, exacerbated SI and loneliness experienced by long-term care residents (LTCRs). Using a thematic review, recurrent themes and concepts were identified and analyzed under the frameworks of anti-oppressive and relational-cultural theory. Due to our ageing population and a need to ensure quality of life for those living longer, this topic is essential as SI is a health concern which results in multiple negative mental and physical health outcomes, including premature mortality.

The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in strict public health orders affecting LTCFs, LTCRs, and family members. These orders coincided with an increase in SI experienced by LTCRs who faced a lack of autonomy, personal agency and disconnection from family members who serve as social support and care providers for LTCRs. Furthermore, the media perpetuated ageist stereotypes of older adults as vulnerable and in need of protection, which influenced public health measures and access to medical care for LTCRs. These challenges were explored through a bioethical analysis.

Interventions to combat SI among LTCRs were identified at micro, mezzo and macro levels. This topic has largely been approached from a micro perspective, focusing on individual interventions despite the widespread prevalence of SI and loneliness within Canadian and worldwide. Additional research on this nuanced and emerging topic requires a social justice lens, looking at the ageist and structural factors which perpetuate SI within society.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I wish to thank my partner for his support during the completion of this program. This major paper had been only a small component of the four-year long journey to complete the entirety of the program. His skills in proof-reading and child-wrangling allowed for the creation of some decent papers. I also wish to thank my mother, who encouraged me in pursuing this degree whilst taking care of her grandchildren during my school commitments.

Lastly, I would like to thank Dr. Leah Douglas whose support facilitated my application to the Master of Social Work program and Professor Jeff Woods, who guided the process of writing this major paper.

Dedication

I dedicate this to my three children, who have pushed me to have excellent time management skills.

Acronyms

AOP – anti-oppressive practice

BC – British Columbia

LTC – long-term care

LTCF – long-term care facility

LTCR – long-term care resident

RCT – relational cultural theory

SI – social isolation

WHO – World Health Organization

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	III
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	IV
DEDICATION	V
ACRONYMS	VI
THE OTHER PANDEMIC: SOCIAL ISOLATION WITHIN LONG-T	
COVID-19	
METHODOLOGY	2
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	3
RELATIONAL CULTURAL THEORY	3
ANTI-OPPRESSIVE PRACTICE	7
LONG-TERM CARE AND ASSISTED LIVING	8
LITERATURE REVIEW	9
SOCIAL ISOLATION AND LONELINESS	9
What Makes Social Isolation a Health Concern?	
Mental Health Implications	10
Physical Health Implications.	11
RISK FACTORS FOR SOCIAL ISOLATION OF OLDER ADULTS IN LONG-TERM CAR	F FACILITIES 11

Individual Factors	
System Factors	12
Social Determinants of Health	
Sociological Perspective	14
PUBLIC HEALTH MEASURES IMPACTING SOCIAL ISOLATION AMONG LONG-TER	m Care
Residents	15
Visitor Restrictions	16
Movement of Staff and Volunteers	
Restricted Activities and Interactions	
Views of Long-Term Care Facility Staff	
Ageism	19
Media Coverage of Older Adults	
Health Policy	21
False Binary	22
Paternalism	22
Family Caregivers Mis-characterized as Visitors	23
Support Social Connection	24
Provide for Care Needs	24
Monitor Quality of Care	25
Facilitate Communication	25
REDUCED ACCESS TO HEALTHCARE	26
Етніся	27
Autonomy	

Surveillance of Long-Term Care Residents	29
Individual Versus Collective Rights	30
Bioethics	31
Harm and Proportionality.	31
Reciprocity	32
Transparency of Government, the Media and Long-Term Care Facilities	32
The Balancing of Autonomy, Beneficence and Non-maleficence	34
Justice	34
Quality Versus Quantity of Life	35
SOCIAL ISOLATION MAY LEAD TO GREATER SUSCEPTIBILITY TO INFECTION IF EXPOS	SED TO
COVID-19	36
IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE: PROPOSED SOLUTIONS TO COMBAT	SOCIAL
IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE: PROPOSED SOLUTIONS TO COMBATISOLATION WITHIN LONG-TERM CARE FACILITIES	
	37
ISOLATION WITHIN LONG-TERM CARE FACILITIES	37
ISOLATION WITHIN LONG-TERM CARE FACILITIES	3737
MICRO-LEVEL INTERVENTIONS	373737
MICRO-LEVEL INTERVENTIONS Communication Strategy Technology	37373738
ISOLATION WITHIN LONG-TERM CARE FACILITIES MICRO-LEVEL INTERVENTIONS Communication Strategy Technology Staff Support of Social Interactions	3737384041
ISOLATION WITHIN LONG-TERM CARE FACILITIES MICRO-LEVEL INTERVENTIONS Communication Strategy Technology Staff Support of Social Interactions Monitoring and Assessment of Social Isolation	3737384041
ISOLATION WITHIN LONG-TERM CARE FACILITIES MICRO-LEVEL INTERVENTIONS Communication Strategy. Technology Staff Support of Social Interactions Monitoring and Assessment of Social Isolation. MEZZO-LEVEL INTERVENTIONS	373738404141
ISOLATION WITHIN LONG-TERM CARE FACILITIES MICRO-LEVEL INTERVENTIONS Communication Strategy Technology Staff Support of Social Interactions Monitoring and Assessment of Social Isolation MEZZO-LEVEL INTERVENTIONS MACRO-LEVEL INTERVENTIONS	37373840414143

REFERENCES	52
CONCLUSION	49
SOCIAL WORK LENS	48
ETHICAL CONSTRAINTS	47
PRACTICAL CHALLENGES	46
METHODOLOGY	43
Memyropology	4.5
POSITIONALITY	45

The Other Pandemic: Social Isolation Within Long-Term Care Facilities During

COVID-19

Media coverage of the COVID-19 pandemic has brought greater public awareness to the issue of SI among LTCRs. Restrictive public health measures put in place by provincial health authorities has caused an upswing in SI experienced by LTCRs, which has been described as a secondary pandemic to COVID-19. SI should be acknowledged as a significant concern due to its impacts to mental and physical health, with a strong correlation to premature mortality (Bethell et al., 2021; Day et al., 2020). This major paper seeks to explore the topic of SI of LTCRs during COVID-19, through a social work lens. This is an important perspective to put forward in the research of SI in LTCFs, as this field is dominated by medical perspectives. A social work perspective will provide an understanding of SI from a holistic standpoint, acknowledging the structural aspects impacting SI within LTCFs. This perspective will assist practitioners working within LTCFs to develop multi-faceted interventions which combat SI and the underlying ageism which perpetuates this concern. The author relies on Relational Cultural Theory (RCT) and Anti-Oppressive Practice (AOP) to inform the research perspective. This major paper looks at the impacts of COVID-19 on SI of older adults living in LTCFs.

The author felt compelled to research this topic area as a result of the extensive media coverage and deaths of LTCRs due to infection from COVID-19. The author intends to further the commitment to improving the lives of those living in LTCFs through lasting structural changes, and thus approaches this topic from an advocacy lens.

This major paper is guided by one primary research question, followed by two secondary research questions.

• What are the effects of COVID-19 public health measures on SI of LTCRs?

- What role has ageism played in public health measures within LTCFs?
- What interventions to SI have been proposed within LTCFs?

Methodology

In order to develop a comprehensive understanding of this subject, thematic analysis was applied during the literature review to explore this topic, which involved identifying the recurrent themes and concepts relevant to SI and loneliness among LTCRs. Literature was retrieved through the Google Scholar search engine and through the EBSCOhost database. Key search terms included "SI," "loneliness," "COVID-19," "coronavirus," "pandemic," "long-term care" and "assisted living." These search terms were used in various combinations to capture relevant literature. All sources were retrieved from peer-reviewed research or scholarly articles. These key search terms yielded journals from predominantly medical fields, including nursing, geriatrics and palliative care. Few articles were found from social work and social policy disciplines. Given the novelty of the subject area and the finite research obtained, the author did not limit the search to a specific geographic area. Instead, peer-reviewed research was included from areas such as Canada, the United Kingdom, Australia and the United States. Most articles included were dated from the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 to 2021, with the exception of two articles which provided a local historical background to the state of SI and loneliness within British Columbia.

During the initial stages of the literature review, the writer attempted to limit the selected research to qualitative or quantitative research studies. This proved problematic for several reasons. First, SI research has largely focused on community-dwelling older adults, rather than those living within LTCFs. Second, the COVID-19 pandemic is a relatively recent worldwide health concern, being declared a worldwide epidemic on March 11, 2020. Thus, research relating

to COVID-19 is newly emerging. Given these challenges, the writer included other types of literature such as letters to the editor, commentaries, and reports from reputable organizations such as the Seniors Advocate of BC and The World Health Organization.

To provide the reader with greater context to this major paper, it should be noted that this was researched and written during the Delta wave of the pandemic, which became the dominant COVID-19 variant in the province of British Columbia, Canada from August, 2021 to mid-December, 2021 (British Columbia Centre for Disease Control, August 6, 2021; British Columbia Centre for Disease Control, December 17, 2021). This was the dominant COVID-19 variant prior to the Omicron variant, and before many countries declared a functional end to the pandemic by ending public health orders (Wadman, 2022, March 4).

Theoretical framework

The theoretical frameworks which guided this literature review are RCT and AOP. RCT was used to explore the concepts of connectivity and relational-cultural paradox in application to SI and loneliness in LTC. AOP was applied to social structures within society that shape the ways in which we care for older adults, leading to the marginalization through the biomedicalization of aging.

Relational Cultural Theory

RCT was created by a collaboration of four female clinicians, Jean Baker Miller, Irene Stiver, Janet Surrey and Judith Jordan, offering a modality which provides strength-based framework to psychotherapy with females (Lenz, 2016). It stands in opposition to a multitude of psychodynamic theories which see human growth across the lifespan as the transition from dependence to independence (Lenz, 2016). Alternatively, Jordan (2018) delineates human growth as occurring toward and through connection with others. Connection provides the

environment necessary to flourish, whereas isolation is a major source of suffering for individuals (Jordan, 2018; Lenz, 2016). Connectivity has been found to ameliorate the impact of stress whereas SI can result in numerous negative health impacts (Hado & Feinberg, 2020). RCT sees disconnection as an inevitable part of human relationships. In instances of disconnection, one individual within the relationship may feel hurt. Where the hurt individual can articulate their feelings and the other individual is able to respond empathetically, then the relationship is strengthened, leading to relational competence (Jordan, 2018; Lenz, 2016). Central relational paradox occurs when the hurt individual is not able to articulate their feelings or that the other person responds with indifference. This results in presenting oneself as inauthentic in order to fit into other available relationships. This can be seen in LTCFs, where residents present their inauthentic selves in order to fit within the preexisting relationships that are available to them, such as with care-aids assigned to LTCRs. These available relationships within LTCFs are limited, due to the lack of opportunity residents have for connection with individuals residing outside of LTCFs. The central relational paradox of LTCRs has been further exacerbated by COVID-19 restrictions. LTCRs have voiced their feelings surrounding restrictive measures to staff members but have faced indifference (Ayalon et al., 2020). These examples demonstrate some of the challenges experienced by LTCRs in maintaining authentic connections. Humans' natural inclination toward interdependence requires a culture that supports connection, rather than a culture which views interdependence as a deficit (Jordan, 2018).

RCT does not propose a unified and linear set of steps for human development. Rather, it suggests that human development is seen through "increasing complexity and articulation within relationships and an increasing capacity for mutuality" (Jordan, 2020, p.6). In prior research, Jordan (2018) proposes five components to growth fostering relationships:

- zest; an increase in energy;
- increased knowledge and clarity about one's own experience, the other person and the relationship;
- creativity and productivity;
- a greater sense of worth; and
- a desire for more connection. (p. 7)

Individuals tend to seek out relationships which are mutual, in that they both give and receive (Jordan, 2018). This is exemplified through SI interventions such as volunteerism, which involve intergenerational mixing, where LTCRs volunteer within schools (Hoffman et al., 2020).

LTCRs experience some challenges participating in growth-fostering relationships. First, LTCRs often encounter difficulties in communication with others due to sensory challenges, such as poor hearing, or cognitive challenges, such as dementia. These communication challenges hinder their ability to understand the other person's experience and their relationship with that person. Another challenge for LTCRs' ability to develop growth fostering relationships is a lack of opportunity to engage in productivity and mutuality. LTCFs are designed to meet most of the care needs for LTCRs, such as having groundskeepers, cleaners or cooks employed. This removes opportunities for mutual contribution or productivity by LTCRs. Isolation and the resulting distress can be seen as a pervasive absence of these within important relationships (Jordan, 2018; Lenz, 2016).

RCT takes a social justice approach, as it believes that disconnection can be created by stratified social organizing and marginalization (Jordan, 2018). Using a RCT lens, it is important to see how the social stratification and marginalization of older adults within LTCFs can create disconnection. LTCRs voice feelings of segregation and isolation, as they are placed into

institutions which have little interface with the outside world (Boahmah et al., 2021). This is one of the unique aspects to RCT, which analyses the impacts of dominance and subordination on groups (Jordan, 2018; Lenz, 2016). Subordination and dominance can be impacted by cultures which value separation and autonomy (Jordan, 2018). Therefore, to approach RCT one must view the individual in relation to the culture in which they live, or that which they are an outsider to. When we examine western society's obsession with youth, we can understand how older adults can become devalued within this culture, resulting in greater chances of disconnection (Chonody & Teater, 2018).

RCT recognizes the construct of controlling images, which are false narratives about social or cultural groups and can affect individual's beliefs of belonging within such groups (Jordan, 2018). Controlling images dictate how individuals and groups should be treated and dictate access to resources and power (Jordan, 2018). The controlling images of older adults were engrained through media representations of LTCRs during COVID-19, depicting older adults as possessing negative characteristics, such as the deterioration of functional and topical capacities of fatality, disease, passivity, dependence and social vulnerability (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020). These images influenced the public health orders and restricted LTCRs' access to resources (Ivan et al., 2020). Images such as these can feel real and unyielding, making it difficult for individuals to be authentic against these images (Jordan, 2018). In some cases, individuals absorb these images, becoming part of their relational image and internalized oppression (Jordan, 2018). Shame or feelings of negative self-worth may result, which tends to silence and isolate individuals (Jordan, 2018). One study highlighted that LTCRs experienced feelings of shame due to their perceived SI, attributing negative personal characteristics as causing their isolation (Barbosa-Neves et al., 2019). Therefore, it can be hypothesized that these negative self-images are perpetuated by ageist stereotypes, such as being a burden or not feeling needed, which are then internalized by residents of LTCFs.

RCT presents great opportunities for research and application in the population of older adults due to the importance of social connection in combatting SI among LTCRs and as there has been limited application of this theory to the older adult population. RCT provides a defined framework for promoting growth-fostering relationships which can assist LTCFs in combatting SI of LTCRs. Ageism permeates all facets of life, therefore it is not unreasonable to hypothesize that it's reach extends to research within older adult populations as well. The application of RCT to the experiences of SI of LTCRs appears to have good compatibility and provides an area for future exploration.

Anti-Oppressive Practice

AOP is a second theoretical framework which has informed the analysis of this paper. AOP focusses on how larger systems uphold power and privilege of one dominant group, whilst leaving others at a disadvantage (Baines, 2017). Disadvantage can take the form of oppression through policies which unjustly impact marginalized groups or by an individual acting unjustly against another individual from a marginalized group (Baines, 2017). AOP draws on a number of different theories that include critical, radical, anti-racist and feminist theories as well as structural social work. AOP and RCT are symbiotic due to their feminist and social justice perspectives and provide a framework to analyze SI among LTCRs during COVID-19.

AOP recognizes that everyday problems are social in nature, shaped by social structures, individual interactions, and those of families and communities (Baines, 2017). Social structures form the ways in which we care for older adults within LTCFs and other aging support services. AOP explores the notion of the biomedicalization of aging. Under this social process, older

adults "are reduced to aging bodies and minds in need of surveillance and treatment by the medical-industrial complex as they degenerate and ultimately fail" (Baines, 2017, p. 194). This perspective configures care for older adults, disregarding holistic approaches to wellness, including aspects such as spirituality, emotional health and social connectivity. Ageism has permeated research and the application of AOP in the field of gerontology, which is an understudied area. Biomedicalization of older adults also serves to homogenize older adults and services, failing to address the intersectionality and diversity of the older population, resulting in marginalization.

AOP observes the use of language when referring to marginalized groups. Common within the biomedicalization of older adults is medical labelling (Baines, 2017). Medical labelling individualizes and depoliticizes social justice concerns (Baines, 2017). This can be seen in the medical labelling of SI, where proposed solutions are largely recommended at the micro, or individual level. This focus disregards the structural roots of SI among older adults living in LTCFs and perpetuates the marginalization of this population through individual deficit. SI should be more accurately viewed as the result of ageism within societies and is exacerbated by the structural design of institutions, such as LTCFs. Together, RCT and AOP inform the analysis of this literature review on SI among LTCRs during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Long-Term Care and Assisted Living

In Canada, LTCFs are regulated by a patchwork of legislation due to a lack of a nationally-defined comprehensive policy. These facilities are not covered under the *Canada Health Act* (Government of Canada, 2020) as an insurable service, and thus provinces and territories have designed their own systems and regulations. LTCFs within British Columbia are licensed under the *Community Care and Assisted Living Act* (Province of British Columbia: BC

Laws, 2021a) or under the *Hospital Act* (Province of British Columbia: BC Laws, 2021b). Vast differences exist between jurisdictions with respect to the wide range of facilities, methods of payment and regulation, and types of facilities (Armstrong et al., 2009). They can be operated by fully private institutions, by institutions under contract of local health authorities, or by local health authorities.

Within British Columbia, individuals living within LTCFs have complex physical and cognitive care needs, which prevent them from being able to live independently in their own home or an assisted living setting (Province of British Columbia, n.d.). These facilities provide twenty-four-hour supervision and medical care to residents (Province of British Columbia, n.d.). Given the communal setting at these facilities, it can be difficult to understand how LTCRs experience SI; however, the prevalence of loneliness among LTCRs is higher than loneliness experienced by individuals living in communities (World Health Organization, 2021a).

Literature Review

Social Isolation and Loneliness

SI among older adults is a widespread concern among most regions across the globe, such as in Canada, United States of America, Europe and Latin America (World Health Organization, 2021a). From a RCT standpoint, humans are social beings who grow toward and through relationships (Jordan, 2018). This can be demonstrated from our shared past in the context of evolutionary history. In hunter-gatherer societies, humans used to work together in close kinship groups relying on each member's skills and abilities to survive. In the post-industrialized world, we now live in increasingly disconnected lives where SI and loneliness, both social determinates of health, have been neglected (World Health Organization, 2021a).

SI and loneliness, while related concepts, are often erroneously used interchangeably despite their distinct meanings. Loneliness is defined as a painful subjective feeling based upon the quality and quantity of one's social relationships, which are not in alignment with one's desired connections (Boamah et al., 2021; WHO, 2021). SI is an objective measure of the number of social contacts and relationships that an individual has (Boamah et al., 2021; WHO, 2021). Thus, an individual can objectively experience SI but be content with the nature and frequency of social connections they engage in and not experience loneliness. Conversely, an individual can experience loneliness but not meet the objective measure of SI. For the purposes of this literature review, I will be focusing on SI among older adult residents of LTCFs.

What Makes Social Isolation a Health Concern?

SI is an important concern for older adults worldwide, as it contributes to multiple negative health outcomes. Some countries have recognized these health impacts and developed specific approaches to tackle SI, through regional programs and national oversight. One such example is the United Kingdom, who appointed a minister to oversee issues related to SI and loneliness and who developed a national strategy to combat these important concerns. SI has also received multi-national recognition through the World Health Organization (WHO), who propose a three-point global strategy to combat the concern. The WHO is a segment of the United Nations agency, which promotes the worldwide health of all people, though evidence-based science (WHO, 2021b). Thus, national, international and multi-national recognition of the impacts of SI on health has gained recognition and importance throughout the world.

Mental Health Implications. SI has been demonstrated to negatively impact mental health outcomes (Bethell et al., 2021; LeVasseur, 2021). Bethell et al. (2021) found that good social connection is associated with good mental health outcomes. In this scoping review, they

discovered that good social connection was associated with reduced depression, decreased responsive behaviours, better mood, affect and emotion, reduced anxiety and lowered rates of cognitive decline (Bethell, 2021). Instead of looking at social connection and the benefits to mental health, other research has focused on how loneliness and SI negatively impact mental health. Findings demonstrate that loneliness and SI leads to increased depression, increased responsive behaviours, worse mood affect and emotion, increased anxiety and increased cognitive decline (Chu et al., 2020; Day et al., 2020; Harden, 2020).

Physical Health Implications. In addition to mental health impacts, there are many physical health implications to SI and loneliness. SI is linked to premature mortality (Day et al., 2020). It increases the risk of cardiovascular disease, obesity and stroke (Chu et al., 2020; Lively, 2021). Harden et al. (2020) reports that SI is associated with a decreased resistance to infection. Lively (2021) draws a starker association, stating that the health impacts to SI is equivalent to smoking fifteen cigarettes a day. It is also important to understand the bi-directional relationship SI has with chronic health conditions. In other words, SI exacerbates chronic health conditions and vice versa (Barbosa-Neves, 2019; Chu et al, 2020). For example, SI can exacerbate cardiovascular disease and obesity. The negative health implications of SI illustrate the value of social connection to mental and physical well-being.

Risk Factors for Social Isolation of Older Adults in Long-Term Care Facilities

It seems counter-intuitive to view LTCFs as environments where SI occurs. Many of these facilities operate in a communal fashion, housing multiple residents and employing numerous staff to assist in caregiving duties. Despite these opportunities for social interaction and engagement, residents of LTCFs remain at risk of SI. Boamah et al. (2021) sought to identify the risk factors to SI within LTCFs, as much of the research on risk factors has focused on the

community-dwelling population. The authors used a scoping review and identified four broad themes which included predisposing individual factors, LTCF system factors and social determinants of health.

Individual Factors

Boamah et al. (2021) identified individual factors that predispose certain residents to SI, which include communication barriers, such as hearing and cognitive impairment. One of the most critical risk factors to SI is the inability to effectively communicate one's views to others. Communication challenges between care providers and residents leads to less participation and engagement by the resident in social activities that are available within LTCFs. A number of factors can exacerbate or result in communication challenges. Hearing loss experienced by some LTCRs can be aggravated by the physical environment of LTCFs which often have a significant amount of background noise. Hearing impairment acts as a barrier to make meaningful social connections between fellow residents and staff members. Cognitive impairment also proves to be a hindrance to communication, which contributes as a risk factor to SI. Cognitive impairment worsens communication challenges, as information can be mis-heard or misunderstood. This is particularly relevant for those with any form of dementia.

System Factors

System factors, characterized by Boamah et al. as "the location of the LTC facility and availability of staff, the types of services provided including individualized care and autonomy of residents, and the interaction between various aspects of the healthcare system" (2021, p.625) were found to contribute to the risk of SI within LTCFs. LTCRs have been removed from their social and geographic communities and placed within LTCFs, with little integration between the two systems, contributing to a sense of disconnection by residents from their broader

communities (Boamah et al., 2021). In some cases, the geographical location of the LTCF creates a barrier for loved ones to visit residents, thus existing relationships within the community become more difficult to maintain (Boamah et al., 2021). Visitors that are able to attend the LTCF act as a lifeline to the current events in the "outside world," providing information on activities and interactions occurring external to LTCFs (Boamah et al., 2021).

Staff shortages in LTCFs are another systemic challenge that results in a reduction of the quality of care. They cause increased and unsustainable workloads for many LTC staff, lowering the quantity and quality of interactions between staff and LTCRs (Boamah et al., 2021). This has been a preexisting issue within LTCFs before the onset of the pandemic, due in part to BC's low unemployment rate which pushes up wages and puts pressure on low or moderate wage jobs (Office of the Seniors Advocate of BC, 2020). Also implicated within the LTC system is a decrease in resident autonomy through the reliance upon staff members, who are under pressure to follow structured schedules and routines within LTCFs which can further hinder individual choice. Interestingly, this reliance upon staff members and the LTCF leads to a decrease in the resident's social supports which are external to the LTCF (Boamah et al., 2021).

Social Determinants of Health

Social determinants of health are the social and economic factors that impact an individual's health in both positive and negative ways (Canadian Public Health association, n.d.). In their research, Boamah et al. (2021) found that social determinants of health contributed towards SI of LTCRs. LTCFs are products of government and funding institutions which contribute to the "inequities in access to healthcare and resources for the older adults" (Boamah, 2021, p. 626). Social determinants, such as race and economic status, determine one's place within society and can lead to discrimination.

Boamah et al. (2021) identified socio-economic status, sexual orientation and gender identity as social determinants of health which increase risk of SI among LTCRs. Socioeconomic status relates to one's social and economic position in relation to others, and is based upon income, occupation and education (American Psychological Association, 2022). This permeates into LTCFs, adding to the stress and vulnerability of SI of LTCRs of low socioeconomic status (Boamah et al., 2021). Sexual orientation and gender identity are other determinants impacting SI of LTCRs. The acronym LGBTQ2S+ is an umbrella term used to represent individuals who are lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, two-spirit and other identities which are not encapsulated within the acronym. Individuals who identify as LGBTQ2S+ experience unique stress due to the fear of discrimination they may experience. Despite being identified together, there are specific needs and concerns related to an individual's identity. Residents who identify as LGBTQ2S+ experience fear due to the stigma that affects this marginalized group and concern over personal safety. Boamah et al. provided insight into a topic area which has limited research, drawing particular focus into how LTCFs can mitigate SI through planning and operation (2021).

Sociological Perspective

Barbosa-Neves et al. (2019) aimed to explore SI and loneliness within LTC homes from a sociological perspective. The authors engaged in a six-month multi-method study which involved field observation and qualitative interviews of two Australian care homes. They found some parallel results to the Boamah et al. study (2021). One theme the authors defined as "oldering", which is the loneliness experienced by LTCRs due to age related circumstances. Within this theme, the authors included numerous conditions including the reduced capacity to engage with others due to age-related frailty and cognitive health. Additionally, the participants

reported a loss of independence and autonomy over their lives due to institutionalization, which refers to an older adult's transition into a LTCF from a residence outside of this setting.

Participants reported the advantages of having frequent staff contact, along with disadvantage of reduced contact with loved ones. These findings mirror those reported in the Boamah et al. (2021) study.

What is unique to the Barbosa-Neves et al. study (2019) is that participants also reported SI to be the result of individual deficits. Participants described that their SI stemmed from introversion, self-imposed choices to remain lonely, personal challenges in developing new social relationships and personal guilt due to their perceived SI. This is an interesting perspective as some participants felt personal fault as causing or perpetuating SI, without the recognition of the environmental context in which they exist. Thus, some participants view SI as stigmatizing and as a private matter, requiring personal agency to solve, despite its structural roots (2019). RCT recognizes that disconnection is not solely a private matter. Environmental contexts impact SI of LTCRs through social stratification, where older adults can become marginalized due to their exclusion from the rest of society through their placement within LTCFs.

Public Health Measures Impacting Social Isolation Among Long-Term Care Residents

In March of 2020, the WHO declared COVID-19 a worldwide pandemic. British Columbia (BC) provincial health officials and the BC Centre for Disease Control responded to the pandemic threat to healthcare workers and LTCRs by implementing policy measures to reduce the risk of disease transmission within this vulnerable population (Office of the Seniors Advocate of British Columbia, 2021, October). Among these aggressive policy measures was the restriction of visitors to LTCFs (Office of the Seniors Advocate of British Columbia, 2021, October). These early and aggressive public health measures were praised by the health

community across the country and assisted to keep BC's outbreaks, cases and deaths in LTCFs lower than in other parts of Canada (Office of the Seniors Advocate of British Columbia, 2021, October). However, these policy measures are not without consequences to residents of LTCFs.

Canadian health authorities have been accused of a failure to plan for the impacts of COVID-19 within LTCFs (Chu, 2021). Planning within LTCFs is particularly important because of the increased susceptibility of LTCRs to the virus due to co-morbidities (Chu, 2021). In addition, what is now understood is that congregate living environments allow for easy transmission of infection, such as in communal dining and group activities which take place in LTCFs (Office of the Seniors Advocate of BC, 2021, October). The high number of deaths within LTCFs led to the strict implementation of public health orders, in attempts to control the infection and transmission of COVID-19 amongst LTCRs. Many of these policies led to an increase in SI among LTCRs.

Visitor Restrictions

The first policy which impacted SI among LTCRs were restrictions to visitors, implemented in BC in March of 2020 (Chu, 2021). The *Canada Health Act* sets a national standard for healthcare in Canada (Government of Canada, 2020). Provinces and territories receive funding from the *Canada Health Transfer* based upon compliance with these standards (Government of Canada, 2020). Due to the provincial responsibility of healthcare in Canada, each province enacted visitor restrictions for varying duration and start dates (Chu, 2021). For example, most provinces implemented visitor restrictions in March of 2020, with the exception of Alberta who implemented visitor restrictions in April of 2020. This discrepancy may be due to the socio-political climates between provinces. The province of Alberta is under the leadership of the United Conservative party, described a "hard-right" political party who has applied a "profits

before lives" pandemic response strategy (Stewart & Jordan, 2021). Additionally, most provinces lifted the constrictive visitor restriction policies after a one-month duration, whereas Ontario's visitor restriction policy remained in place for three months (Chu, 2021). This was likely due to the deterioration of care within LTCFs, resulting from the severe COVID-19 outbreaks and staffing shortages plaguing LTCFs in Ontario in April of 2020. This resulted in the premier of Ontario, Rob Ford, calling on the military to assist. The impacts of visitor restriction policies will be explored in greater depth later in this literature review.

Movement of Staff and Volunteers

Another policy which increased SI among LTCRs was eliminating movement of staff and volunteers within LTCFs (Chu, 2021). Within Canada, LTC staff working for private facilities typically work part-time for multiple locations (Chu et al., 2021; Office of the Seniors Advocate of BC, 2021, October). The public health office of BC put in place the single site order, limiting healthcare staff to work solely at one LTCF, thereby reducing the possibility of infection transmission across multiple LTCFs (Office of the Seniors Advocate of BC, 2021). One of the detrimental consequences to this order is that LTC staff had to make the difficult decision to select one site for employment (Chu et al., 2021). This disrupted the continuity of care experienced by some LTCRs, who no longer saw the LTC staff member with whom they had established a social connection (Chu et al., 2021). RCT views this disconnection as a cause of social suffering and isolation (Jordan, 2018). Under a RCT framework, LTCRs presented their inauthentic selves to fit into the available relationships with unfamiliar staff members, causing their further suffering.

Restricted Activities and Interactions

A third policy which increased SI among LTCRs was the restriction of activities and interactions within LTCFs. In order to promote physical distancing measures within LTCFs, communal dining no longer occurred at one time for each meal of the day. Instead, dining times were staggered or meals were taken inside LTCRs' rooms (Chu et al, 2021). LTCRs were further subjected to restrictions of their movements. They were no longer allowed to leave the LTCF and all external activities were cancelled, essentially isolating residents from the outside world (Chu et al., 2021). LTCRs were relegated to spending time within their rooms, the majority of which are single-occupancy rooms with limited space (Chu et al., 2021; Office of the Seniors advocate of BC, 2021, October).

Views of Long-Term Care Facility Staff

A report by the Seniors Advocate of BC attempted to understand the impacts of COVID-19 preventative measures to LTCFs, LTCRs and staff (2021, October). In their survey of LTC staff, they identified a number of COVID-19 prevention measures which staff believed to be impacting the wellbeing of LTCRs. The following percentage of staff reported that several COVID-19 prevention measures had a very negative or somewhat negative impact on residents:

- eighty-nine percent for visitor restrictions;
- eighty-seven percent for LTCRs' inability to leave the facility for outings;
- eighty-five percent for isolating residents to their room for 14 days when admitted;
- seventy-six percent for dining room limitations;
- seventy-five percent for isolating the residents to their rooms for an outbreak;
- and sixty-nine percent for staff being required to wear medical masks at all times (2021, October, p. 31).

This survey of staff members provides a valuable look into the topic of SI from the unique perspective of staff members. Staff members work in close proximity to and develop relationships with LTCRs. RCT argues that these relationships allow individuals to flourish (Jordan, 2018).

Ageism

Ageism has played a prominent role in the lives and experiences of LTCRs during the COVID-19 pandemic. Ageism is defined as the negative views of aging and older adults, shaped by prejudice, stereotypes and discrimination (Edström, 2018). Ageism is perpetuated through the media, social media and public health announcements by government administrators. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the media has provided extensive coverage of the impacts of the virus on older adults living within LTCFs (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020). Older adults have been disproportionally affected by the pandemic for a variety of reasons, not exclusively related to age (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020). However, the narrative portrayed by media has largely focused on stereotypes and representations surrounding ageist beliefs, such as frailty (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020). These media discourses have far-reaching negative impacts on western society's views of older adults which maintain invisible bias in how western society views SI of LTCRs and how it implements COVID-19 health measures (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020).

Media Coverage of Older Adults

Historically, mainstream media has deemed older adults as not being newsworthy, leaving them under-represented (Edström, 2018). However, this invisibility has shifted due to the impacts of COVID-19 on LTCFs. Media has begun to focus its attention on a specific demographic of older adults, those who reside in LTCFs. This coverage has shaped views of older adults and COVID-19 by portrayals of older adults through ageist stereotypes during

COVID-19. Bravo-Segal and Villar (2020) state that one of the issues of media portrayals of older adults is their representation as one homogenous group. This is one example of AOP and the biomedicalization of aging (Baines, 2017). This association of older adults and LTCFs diverges from the diversity of lived experiences of older adults (Ayalon et al., 2020b). In fact, older adults differ in a myriad of ways including health history, life experiences, genetics and cultural backgrounds (Ayalon et al., 2020b). Additionally, older adults who reside in LTCFs account for only three percent of older adults over age 65 (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020). This pairing of older adults and LTC within the media serves to perpetuate negative stereotypes of older adults. The false narrative of the homogeneity among older adults are termed controlling images under a RCT lens (Jordan, 2018). Controlling images affect an individual's belief as belonging within this homogenous group, which may result in the individual internalizing this framework into one's identity (Jordan, 2018). Thus, if an older adult is active and is exposed to controlling images, they may internalize an identity belonging to the homogenous group, such as frailty.

In addition to the essentialized representation of older adults, the media generally depicts older adults as possessing negative characteristics, such as the deterioration of functional and topical capacities of fatality, disease, passivity, dependence and social vulnerability (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020). These representations are strikingly evident within digital media, where we are presented with visual representations of distorted images of older adults, misrepresenting them in prejudicial ways (Ivan et al., 2020). Some of these images during the COVID-19 pandemic have shown older adults sitting in wheelchairs, holding onto walkers, or confined to beds. Such visual representations, known as visual ageism, reinforce negative characteristics of older adults living within LTCFs (Ivan et al., 2020) and influence policy development for public health measures.

Health Policy

Ageism has permeated the framing, development and implementation of public health policies through the depictions of older adults as frail, dependant and vulnerable (Ivan et al., 2020). Some of these ageist depictions of older adults include dependance, vulnerability and deterioration of health (Ayalon et al., 2020b). From an AOP lens, this process is referred to as the biomedicalization of aging, where older adults are reduced to their aging bodies, which frames the medical care provided to older adults (Baines, 2017). Ageism is evident by some medical practice decisions which solely utilized age as a criterion for treatments in resourcescarce situations, such as in the use of ventilators (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020). For example, the United States of America has adopted the Ventilator Allocation Guidelines where age can be used as a 'tie-breaking' criterion (Fraser et al., 2020). This example demonstrates the devaluing of older adults in medical policy decisions (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020). Another example of ageism in policy decisions is in countries whose healthcare systems have become overwhelmed with patients, where patients become prioritized by their chances of survival (D'cruz & Banarjee, 2020). A further example of these discriminatory practices is the proposals of protracted lockdown measures for older adults by some health authorities, framed as being for the older adult's own protection (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020; D'cruz & Banarjee, 2020). This measure has been rationalized as a necessary sacrifice by older adults to prevent overwhelming the healthcare system (D'cruz & Banarjee, 2020). However, this example provides a false notion that chronological age should be the main criterion for risk during the COVID-19 pandemic, as opposed to other risk factors such as health history, chronic conditions, or lifestyle (Fraser et al., 2020). In fact, data has shown that "younger adults represent the largest proportion of COVID-19 carriers" (Fraser et al., 2020, para. 5). Therefore, public health measures to stop the spread of

COVID-19 should focus on younger adults as opposed to restricting freedoms of older adults to minimize risk of infection.

False Binary

Ageism during the COVID-19 pandemic also serves to polarize a false binary of older adult versus young person (Ayalon et al., 2020b). During the early stages of the pandemic, there have been reports of individuals expressing relief that the majority of individuals dying are older adults (Berg-Weger & Morley, 2020). Current public discourse influences public policy, which suggests protecting older adults by enclosing them in LTCFs for their own protection (Ayalon et al., 2020b). Public discourses which emphasize susceptibility to the negative effects of COVID-19 due to age permit younger people to direct anger and resentment toward older adults (Ayalon et al., 2020b). Additionally, this discourse emboldens younger people to engage in risky behaviours which increase their chances of also contracting COVID-19 (Ayalon et al., 2020b). The negative portrayals of older adults, coupled with the polarizing nature of the young and old may cause young people to internalize these negative beliefs of aging and health (Ayalon et al., 2020b).

Paternalism

In addition to the impacts of ageism on policy design and implementation, ageism reinforces paternalism by excluding older adults from policy development. This paternalistic stance in policy has also been demonstrated in the exclusion of visitors from LTCFs as part of public health emergency measures (Tupper et al., 2020). Paternalism is also evidenced by the lack of autonomy within LTCFs, and the surveillance experienced by LTCRs from staff members. The carte-blanche implementation of this policy has shown a lack of insight into who

are deemed visitors and what roles they play within LTCFs. Many of these visitors are individuals who provide day-to-day care for their loved ones, accounting for up to thirty percent of care needs for residents living within LTCFs (Tupper et al., 2020). The restriction of such visitors resulted in poorer resident health outcomes within LTCFs (Tupper et al., 2020). More recently, the policy has been amended to allow individuals to be labelled as essential caregivers on a case-by-case basis, which was determined according to different LTCF policies who made up their own criteria, thereby providing access to these designated individuals within LTCFs. These amendments demonstrate a recognition of the challenges this restrictive policy posed for LTCRs, their loved ones and LTC staff members. Additionally, the amendments reveal consequences of the implementation of carte-blanche policy without the incorporation of LTCRs' voices in policy development. Despite its relatively recent emergence, the themes of paternalism that guided the development of such policies suggest that ageism has taken a foothold in western society.

Family Caregivers Mis-characterized as Visitors

In March of 2020, visitors were restricted from LTCFs in BC, except for those falling under "compassionate care" and family support. Compassionate care visits were defined as visits which would fall under the category of medical assistance in dying, critical illness, end of life, palliative and hospice care (Hou & Wong, 2021). Family support visits were granted at the discretion of the Health Authority and LTC administration where family members had routinely provided feeding, mobility, or communication support to the LTCRs (Hou & Wong, 2021). Initially, these exemptions were argued to lack clarity and be inconsistently defined (Tupper et al., 2020). These visitor restrictions resulted in a significant reduction in the number of visitors attending LTCFs and attending to LTCRs.

Support Social Connection

Family caregivers are often key partners to the quality of care received by LTCRs and serve key roles in the lives of residents (Hado & Feinberg, 2020; Tupper et al., 2020). First, family members support important social connection for LTCRs. Their mental well-being is supported by family members, who encourage participation in social connection through participation in activities, including those outside of LTCFs (Hou & Wong, 2021). Many residents of LTCFs who experience SI have come to depend on family visits (Gardner, 2020). Gardner argues that these visits prevent LTCRs from feeling lonely, abandoned and despondent (2020). Since visitor restrictions were put in place, LTCRs and their family members have expressed concerns over SI (Hou & Wong, 2021) as LTCRs grieve over the loss of companionship of family members during visitor restrictions (Tupper et al., 2020).

Provide for Care Needs

Family members play a vital role as caregivers to LTCRs, which is unseen and unrecognized (Hou & Wong, 2021; Tupper et al., 2020). Tupper et al. (2020) states that thirty percent of all care to LTCRs is provided by family members. Care can be defined as "feeding, washing, toileting, social, emotional and memory support, and mobilization" (Tupper et al., 2020, p335). Two studies explicitly clarify the role of family members as assisting in the activities of daily living of LTCRs (Hou & Wong, 2021; Hindmarch et al., 2021). Activities of daily living is a term used by health professionals to describe the self-care tasks that an individual or care team performs daily, which are fundamental in caring for an individual and include such activities as personal hygiene, toileting, bathing, transferring, grooming and dressing. In contrast to these functional activities, social and emotional care includes the time that family members spend assisting LTCRs in these activities (Hou & Wong, 2021). As family

members were no longer able to assist in the activities of daily living for LTCRs, this contributed to an increase in workload for LTC staff (Hou & Wong, 2021). The increase in workload was further compounded by staffing shortages, caused by an additional provincial health policy called the single site order (Ayalon et al., 2020a; Office of the Seniors Advocate of BC, 2021). Prior to the onset of the pandemic, many LTCFs already struggled to maintain adequate staffing levels (Ayalon et al., 2020a). In a confidential survey to staff working at LTCFs in BC, seventy-five percent reported working short-staffed within the past year (Office of the Seniors Advocate of BC, 2021). Thus, the increased workload for staff, brought on by the single site order and the lack of family caregiver assistance, may have added to a deterioration of care for LTCRs and reduced social connection.

Monitor Quality of Care

Family members monitor quality of care for LTCRs (Gardner, 2020; Hado & Feinberg, 2020; Tupper et al., 2020), serving as important advocates for the care of LTCRs within LTCFs (Hindmarch, 2021). When family members are not present, they are not able to assist in the care needs of LTCRs nor are they able to alert staff to potential problems in the care of LTCRs (Tupper et al., 2020). As such, the presence of family in LTCFs also serves to prevent resident's vulnerability to abuse and neglect (Gardner, 2020; Miller, 2020), by facilitating communication and improving quality of life. Mortality is reduced and quality of life is improved with the presence of family members in LTCFs.

Facilitate Communication

Family members facilitate communication between LTCRs and staff (Hou & Wong, 2021; Tupper et al., 2020). They act as interpreters for LTCRs who are not competent in the official language. Facilitation of communication is especially relevant for individuals with

cognitive impairment, as family members bridge past memories with the present for LTCRs living with dementia and assist LTCRs in understanding their daily lives (Hou & Wong, 2021). As previously identified in a study by Boamah et al. (2021), communication is a risk factor for SI among LTCRs. Communication is also facilitated by family members through the discussion of issues that require shared decision making, such as in care plans, and instances where family members become defacto decision makers when the LTCRs no longer possess the capability to make important decisions on their own (Hado & Feinberg, 2020).

Given the vital role that family members provide to LTCRs in maintaining residents' health and wellness, it has been argued that family members have been mis-characterized as entertaining visitors (Tupper et al., 2020). Despite their caregiving duties being relied upon by LTC institutions, they are unrecognized in a patient-centred system and are inconsistently consulted in the circle of care (Tupper et al., 2020). Family members play a vital role in the practical aspects of caregiving to LTCRs, but also contribute to the LTCRs' social connection through these tasks. Visitor restrictions caused deleterious effects on LTCRs communication with LTC staff and other residents, thereby increasing SI.

Reduced Access to Healthcare

One of the negative impacts to residents' experience within LTCFs during COVID-19 is the restricted access to medical care (D'cruz & Banerjee, 2020; Harden et al., 2020; Hoffman et al., 2020; Lively, 2021). LTCFs provide a range of services in areas such as social, personal and healthcare needs to meet the needs of LTCRs (Ayalon et al., 2020b). This includes in-patient medical treatment and rehabilitation services (Ayalon et al., 2020b). Individuals who reside in LTCFs have complex healthcare needs, frailty, comorbidities and compromised immune systems (Office of the Seniors Advocate of British Columbia, 2021,

October). COVID-19 has impacted the accessibility of medical services to those living in LTCFs due to the transition from in-person medical to telephone or virtual appointments, resulting in a decrease in the quality of management of chronic conditions and preventative care as a result of a lack of access to or an inability to use technology (Lively, 2021). The shift to virtual healthcare visits also caused challenges in developing personalized care to LTCRs, impacting the quality, patient-centred, holistic aspects of LTCRs' care plans (Harden et al., 2021). As advocates were removed and support structures altered, LTCRs were at a higher risk of negative health outcomes (Harden et al., 2021). Additionally, healthcare resources for the elderly which have been deemed non-essential have been reallocated towards the pandemic (D'cruz & Banargee, 2020). Some of the reallocated services include counselling, physiotherapy, elective surgeries, hearing aids, visual aids, training for neurocognitive disorders, occupational therapy and palliative care.

D'cruz and Banargee (2020) recognize that restricted access to medical and healthcare resources for those in LTCFs is not necessarily a new phenomenon, although the pandemic has exacerbated this concern. The authors state that ageism has always played a role in the allocation of healthcare resources and medical appointments. Older adults experience structural exclusion from healthcare. Neurogenerative disease and mental health concerns are erroneously normalized as part of the aging process. Aside from these longstanding ageist impacts to healthcare, D'cruz and Banargee (2020) state that what is novel to the pandemic situation appears to be a healthcare triage system which places lower priority placed upon older infected adults. This highlights ageism of LTCRs as a pervasive and ongoing challenge to the healthcare of older adults.

Ethics

When working with vulnerable populations in institutional settings, ethical considerations are paramount to ensuring LTCRs are treated justly and with integrity. AOP provides a social

justice lens in which to view ethics, with the purpose of reducing marginalization of older adults. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused an examination of the ethics of some policies and practices intended to preserve life of LTCRs, but instead resulted in marginalization and a reduced quality of life.

Autonomy

Autonomy within LTCF settings is important to self-worth, dignity and personhood (Smebye et al., 2016). During the COVID-19 pandemic, LTCRs experienced a lack of autonomy (Ayalon et al. 2020a; D'cruz & Banerjee, 2020; LeVasseur, 2021). Traditionally, LTCFs care for residents who are dependent on others for tasks such as managing finances and basic activities of daily living. People with disabilities and whom rely on others for their care, do so for a longer period of time due to increased life expectancies (D'cruz & Banerjee, 2020). Many of these individuals are cared for in LTCFs which are equipped to manage their complex healthcare needs. According to Statistics Canada, seven-point one percent of older adults aged sixty-five and over lived in collective dwelling environments, such as LTCFs and other residences for older adults which provide specialized care (2018). Residents of LTCFs are at risk of experiencing an existing lack of choice and autonomy in their lives due to the structured nature of these facilities in how they operate and care for residents. D'cruz and Banerjee (2020) comment on the lack of choice given to older adults, due to marginalization. As a result of their vulnerability to the COVID-19 virus, infection control measures were more stringently applied to older adults living in LTCFs than in other settings such as schools (D'cruz & Banerjee, 2020). Public Health Authorities and staff of LTCFs became decision makers, depriving residents of LTCFs of their autonomy, agency and independence to make health decisions for themselves (D'cruz &

Banerjee, 2020). Public health and staff members at LTCFs took a paternalistic stance in this regard, attempting to make decisions for the well-being of others.

Ayalon et al. (2020a) compared the degree of autonomy experienced by LTCRs and the autonomy of other older adults living within the community. In the initial presence of COVID-19 in BC, public health measures were implemented broadly across all facets of society, with stay-at-home orders in effect. Older adults living in the community benefited from the freedom of autonomy and choice to abide by or disobey these public health measures (Ayalon et al., 2020a). In contrast, LTCRs were deprived of this autonomy. Management of LTCFs informed residents of how they could conduct themselves and engaged in surveillance of their actions (Ayalon et al., 2020a). This illustrates the discrepancy experienced between LTCRs and older adults living within the community.

Surveillance of Long-Term Care Residents

Surveillance of LTCRs was easily accomplished, given the institutional setting of LTCFs (Ayalon et al., 2020a). Due to the surveillance of LTCFs, they can easily become "totalitarian institutions in which the residents have minimal opportunities to exert their will" (Ayalon, 2020a, p.1240). LTCFs are designed in a way to encourage communal living (Ayalon et al., 2020a). Additionally, rooms within LTCFs tend to be smaller in order to encourage interaction between residents and staff in communal spaces (Ayalon et al., 2020a). Often, these rooms are shared between LTCRs, which is a concern from an infection transmission standpoint (Ayalon et al., 2020a). The review of COVID-19 outbreaks in BC report conducted by the Seniors Advocate of BC found that there is a twenty-four percent higher risk of larger COVID-19 outbreaks within LTCFs with shared rooms than in facilities with single-occupant rooms (2021). Therefore, the physical structure and design of LTCFs made surveillance by staff members easier to

accomplish, but also enabled disease transmission. Surveillance in LTCFs is an example of the AOP concept of the biomedicalization of aging, which describes the social practice where "older adults are reduced to aging bodies and minds in need of surveillance and treatment" (Baines, 2017, p. 194).

Individual Versus Collective Rights

Research also focused on the ethics of the public health orders affecting LTCRs. One such study by LeVasseur (2021) compared the rights of the individual to those of the group. LeVasseur (2021) took a unique approach to understanding the effects of SI of LTCRs during COVID-19 by using a case report. The author described the case of a LTCR living with dementia. Pre-pandemic, this resident benefited from daily visitors at the LTCF in which she lived. With visitor restrictions, this individual began to experience negative health impacts, including worsening depression, cognitive decline, and weight loss, despite the online visits with family which were facilitated. In spite of the supplements to her diet, the LTCR lost 14.4 pounds over the course of six months. A patient health questionnaire which screens for depression, found that the resident decreased from a score of 5 indicating mild depression to 12 indicating moderate depression. Finally, a brief mental status report of the resident declined from 9 to 0, moving from mild to severe cognitive impairment. Family members recognized the LTCRs' deterioration in cognition, worsening depression and weight loss, and made requests to the LTCF for in-person meetings which were denied. Sadly, the resident suffered a life-ending stroke. In the analysis of the case report, LeVasseur (2021) concludes that "the ethical perspective of the pandemic is to protect the population as a whole, including those living in LTCFs" (p. 781). In other words, the author rationalized the death of the participant as the need to prioritize the safety of all the LTCRs over the safety needs of one resident (2021).

The ethical rationalization which is evident in the LeVasseur study (2021) originates from a public healthcare standpoint where collective interests are given precedence, which is differentiated from how traditional healthcare operates (Swiffen, 2020). The mission of public healthcare during a pandemic is to break the chain of infection transmission in a community. It involves a myriad of stakeholders with broad scope. This mandate contrasts from that of traditional healthcare, which is typically viewed as an interaction between an individual and healthcare professional, using a patient-centred approach. Caselaw surrounding the application of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms within public health emergencies is negligible; however, there is a proclivity for the courts to protect public health by limiting individual rights. Swiffen (2020) advises that there are concerns of establishing precedent in deference of individual rights in favor of collective interests. This is evidenced by LeVasseur's (2021) case report, which reflects the challenges of public health policy on those living with dementia in LTCFs.

Bioethics

Lively (2021) presents a bioethical analysis of policies relating to SI among LTCRs, stating that there were severe limitations to the liberty of those living within LTCFs. Within the research article, the author reflects on five points: harm and proportionality; reciprocity; transparency by government, the media and LTCFs; autonomy, beneficence and non-maleficence and finally justice.

Harm and Proportionality. Harm and proportionality should be revisited at multiple points during the pandemic (Lively, 2021). LTCRs are at increased risk for infection of COVID-19, requiring hospitalization and possibly leading to mortality. At the onset of the pandemic, there was uncertainty of the COVID-19 virus and confusion which justified the public health

measures put in place at LTCFs, such as the restriction of visitors, activities, social interactions, and movement of staff and volunteers. Lively argues that as the pandemic continued and the restrictions became protracted, there were risks of harm to individuals by these restrictions.

Ongoing evaluation and analysis of these restrictions should be done to consider whether less restrictive measures could have been implemented sooner (Lively, 2021).

Reciprocity. Reciprocity "is a core principle of public health and requires the balancing of the benefits and burdens of the social cooperation" (Lively, 2021, p. 4). Under this principle, if one sacrifices their personal liberties for the greater good of others, society then owes a reciprocal obligation to the individual (Lively, 2021). This obligation could include providing support or refraining from discrimination which is perpetuated towards the individual. Within the context of LTCFs, residents had their autonomy taken from them through lockdown measures, among others (Ayalon et al. 2020a; D'cruz & Banerjee, 2020; LeVasseur, 2021). This protected both the LTCR from infection, but also greater society as they attempted to keep healthcare systems from being overrun and preserve medical supplies (D'cruz & Banarjee, 2020). Society recognizes that older adults who become infected with COVID-19 would require greater medical resources. Lively (2021) poses the question, what does society owe residents of LTCFs for their sacrifice of personal liberties? Perhaps, it is to research the effects of public health restrictions on residents of LTCFs (Lively, 2021).

Transparency of Government, the Media and Long-Term Care Facilities.

Information from public health authorities, media and LTCFs was limited and unclear, variable or included misinformation which left room for individuals to speculate, question and doubt this correspondence (Hindmarch et al., 2021; Lively, 2021; Tupper et al., 2020). Media presented information which was misleading and fear-invoking, and LTCF pandemic plans and

infection control activities were not communicated in a timely and clear fashion (Tupper et al., 2020). Several studies took note of the communication challenges between LTCFs and family members, at a time when these family members were impacted by visitor restrictions to LTCFs. Family members of LTCRs were frustrated by a lack of information provided by the LTCFs about their loved one (Tupper et al., 2020). Hindmarch et al. (2021) echoed this finding; family caregivers were irritated by the variable communication they received about LTCRs during visitor lockdowns. One family caregiver explained that when she did receive correspondence, typically it would not contain valuable information. Instead, staff members would often state that "she is doing fine today, she is being cooperative" (Hindmarch et al., 2020, p. 197). Aside from confusion, a further consequence to inconsistent communication to family members includes noncompliance of infection control procedures (Chu et al., 2021). Infection control policies at LTCFs changed frequently, as a result of directives from public health orders, which challenged LTCFs' ability to provide consistent communication to family members (Chu et al., 2021). Harden et al. (2020) found that impaired communication was one of the most significant issues affecting family of LTCRs, which comprised of LTCRs being unable to communicate with their family supports and miscommunication between LTC staff and family. Impaired communication led to increased levels of stress and frustration for family members and LTCRs (Harden et al., 2020). Family members play a critical role in the health and well-being of LTCRs. Visitor restrictions, coupled with the variable communication received by family members of LTCRs resulted in a disconnection of their role as family caregivers and caused significant stress to both family members and LTCRs. Given the key role that family members have in LTCRs' wellness, it is critically important that

communication channels remain open between government officials and LTC providers, LTC staff and family members (Miller, 2020).

The Balancing of Autonomy, Beneficence and Non-maleficence. Lively (2021) explains that the initial public health orders were in conflict with LTCRs' autonomy. These restrictions resulted in some beneficence to the LTCR, which was a decrease in the possibility of becoming infected with COVID-19. In medical ethics, beneficence is the moral duty of a practitioner to act in a patient's self-interest. As a result of these public health orders, Lively (2021) asserts that LTCRs also encountered negative physical and emotional effects. Thus, in the protection of the health of LTCRs, there also was an associated harm. Lively argues that the prolonged restrictions on LTCFs became maleficent, which is a medical ethics term for 'cause harm' (2021). Maleficence can be caused through the neglect of a patient, such as with the social distancing policies causing LTCRs to experience SI. Older adults should be included as stakeholders in policy making, as they are not passive recipients of care in a system which treats them paternalistically (D'cruz & Banargee, 2021; Lively, 2021; Tupper et al., 2020).

Justice. When one examines justice, one must scrutinize any discrepancies or special protections that exist between LTCRs and their older adult counterparts living independently in the community (Lively, 2021). Stay at home orders did not result in the equal treatment between these two groups. Rather, LTCRs were forced to remain isolated in the facility, thus experiencing greater depression due to the surveillance and lack of choice in abiding by the public health orders. In the article, Lively introduces Kant's categorical imperative, which argues that "selectively restricting older adults for the good of other people amounts to treating older adults as a means to an end for others" (Lively, 2021, p. 5). In other words, older adult's autonomy is sacrificed to ensure that scarce medical resources are available to younger

Banerjee (2021), where older adults were expected to sacrifice themselves for the greater good of society. In the article by Lively, Kant's categorical imperative is applied to LTC restrictions (2021). Individual residents are protected from infection by the public health restrictions imposed. However, the restrictions create an imposition on residents to serve the larger population through safeguarding of scarce medical resources. Lively argues that this treats LTCRs as a means to an end for residents living within the community (2021). Due to the isolation of LTCRs and their decreased need of medical supplies, these supplies would then be available to residents living within the community (2021). Kant's overarching principle is to maintain dignity, thus public health orders should be viewed in relation to their impact on dignity of a person, recognizing the value and equal worth that LTCRs possess (2021). Lively concludes the article by advocating for balancing the need of public health orders to the potential of harm that the health orders enact on those affected (2021).

Quality Versus Quantity of Life

One of the final ethical topics that emerged from the literature is policies which focus on the quantity of life versus the quality of life (Chu et al., 2020). Chu argues that autonomy versus the individual acceptance of risk has received very little regard within society.

Morbidity should be viewed with the same level of importance as mortality. LTCRs and their families should be given some freedom to make decisions which impact their wellbeing. Some residents drew stark comparisons of their experiences in LTC during the public health measures as being a captive. In some cases, LTCRs favored death over isolation in their rooms. One consequence to the unknown duration of public health isolation measures has resulted in some LTCRs not having in-person visits for months or years before their deaths (Chu et al.,

2020). In a study by Ayalon et al. (2020a), some LTCRs expressed fear of dying in isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. The authors argue that care plans should consider not only physical health, but also psychosocial wellbeing of LTCRs (Ayalon et al., 2020a) towards greater autonomy and quality of life.

Social Isolation May Lead to Greater Susceptibility to Infection if Exposed to COVID-19

An interesting research article by Cohen (2020) hypothesized that isolating in homes contributes to greater vulnerability to infection and disease if exposed to COVID-19. Cohen (2020) has engaged in viral-challenge research which looks at psychosocial factors which determine who may become ill when exposed to a virus which impacts the upper respiratory tract. They found that individuals with higher levels of stress were more susceptible to upper respiratory disease. SI can be viewed as a psychosocial stressor. The authors sampled 276 participants who reported their level of social connection. Social connection is known to predict lesser mortality and is associated with a lowered risk for cardiovascular disease and disease progression. These participants were exposed to an upper respiratory tract virus. The author found that those who were least socially connected were 4.2 times more likely to develop a cold than those who were more socially connected. Perceived social support, defined as the "resources provided by one's social network in the face of adversity, has also been hypothesized to protect against the pathogenic effects of stress" (p. 169). COVID-19 is similar to the common cold or influenza, in that it affects the upper respiratory tract. Thus, the authors hypothesize that public health orders instructing individuals to stay at home may increase one's chances for contracting COVID-19 if they are exposed to the virus. This hypothesis makes a strong argument for the deleterious effects of stay-at-home orders and resulting SI among LTCRs. Cohen (2020)

suggests that this may help to focus public health resources and interventions for individuals deemed high-risk, if exposed to the virus.

Implications for Practice: Proposed Solutions to Combat Social Isolation Within Long-Term Care Facilities

Micro-Level Interventions

Due to the strict public health orders, residents of LTCFs have experienced negative impacts to their health and wellbeing, in addition to increased SI. These orders should not prevent LTCRs from maintaining social connections with family members and loved ones (Hado & Feinberg, 2020). In fact, the uncertainty, stress and vulnerability experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic by LTCRs should make social connectivity a priority for LTCRs (Hado & Feinberg, 2020). At the micro level, several interventions have been recommended to maintain social connectivity between LTCRs and their loved ones and maintain LTCRs' health and wellbeing. Micro-level interventions include improving communication through the development of a communication strategy and the employment of students, use of technology and better access to telehealth, staff support of social interactions and the increased monitoring and assessment of SI of LTCRs.

Communication Strategy

Improving communication between LTCFs and family members through a communication strategy was identified as one of the prominent solutions to reduce SI among LTCFs (Hado & Feinberg, 2020; Tupper et al., 2020). Hado and Feinberg (2020) and Tupper et al. (2020) suggest that LTCFs should be mandated to inform LTCR families and loved ones of their care, including developing a communication strategy between LTC staff and key family representatives. Staff members could be assigned as a primary contact to family members or

loved ones in order to bolster communication between LTCFs and family members or loved ones. Some key topics that might be addressed during these communications include treatment options and implementing advanced care plans, which are guidelines for future healthcare decisions when a patient is no longer able to make these decisions alone. Another intervention to support communication between LTCFs and family members is to attempt to mobilize students and trainees in these tasks, such as gerontological social work students. The BC Seniors Advocate found that 80% of LTCFs surveyed reported a significant increase in workload related to communication with families during the COVID-19 pandemic (Office of the Seniors Advocate of British Columbia, 2021). Students would assist in supporting LTCFs staff who are burdened by heavy workloads. These students could share infection control policies within LTCFs, support families and loved ones by contacting them regularly to inform them of the wellbeing of the LTCR (Hado & Feinberg, 2020). Tupper et al. (2021) made similar recommendations, suggesting the possibility of increasing, repurposing or reallocating staff to facilitate communication between LTCFs and loved ones. Information sharing between LTCFs and LTCRs' family and loved ones would allow for families to continue their advocacy efforts to ensure the health and social connection needs of the LTCR were met.

Technology

The use of technology can assist LTCRs in maintaining social connection during the pandemic, and include the use of social media, telephone and video conferencing (Bethell et al., 2021; Chu et al., 2021; Day et al., 2020; Hado & Feinberg; Hoffman et al., 2020; LeVasseur, 2021). Another example of technology being used by families are web-enabled cameras, also known as granny-cams (Chu et al., 2021). These allow families to monitor their loved ones through video and audio communication (Chu et al., 2021).

Technology-based interventions have become an important tool during the COVID-19 pandemic, as physical distancing was recommended in order to reduce the possibility of COVID-19 transmission. The regular use of videoconferencing between LTCRs and family members has been demonstrated to have beneficial impacts on social support and loneliness (Bethell et al., 2021). Technology remains an important tool for LTCRs to maintain social connections with their loved ones.

The use of technology to facilitate social connection of LTCRs presents some challenges including accessibility and useability. Accessibility to devices, such as computers, tablets and smartphones, remains a concern within LTCFs (Hoffman et al., 2020). Many LTCFs have a limited number of tablets which are to be shared amongst many LTCRs (Chu et al., 2020). Thus, attempts should be made to bridge the gap by funding these devices through medical insurance, such as the provincial health Medical Services Plan (Hoffman et al., 2020). The University of British Columbia (UBC) attempted to ameliorate SI of LTC residents through an initiative called Connecting for Compassion (Hou & Wong, 2021). This program allowed residents to connect to loved ones, as well as student volunteers and the UBC school of dance, by providing Ipads with videoconferencing programs to LTCFs (Hou & Wong, 2021). Another technological challenge is that some LTCRs lack the dexterity required to hold a tablet, resulting in family members viewing the ceiling as opposed to the LTCRs' face (Chu et al., 2020). Individuals with functional limitations in using these technologies should be provided with additional support (Hoffman, 2020), which in some cases has been provided by LTCFs who have hired additional staff to support LTCRs' technology use (Chu et al., 2020). Some LTCRs lack the digital skills required to use technology and therefore educational opportunities might be advantageous for usability of technology devices (Berg-Weger & Morley, 2020; Day et al., 2020). Chu et al. (2020) proposes

that technology is not designed for the capabilities of older adults and requires improvements to create user-friendly applications for older adults. The authors suggest a need for collaboration between technology developers, researchers, older adults and their family members to come up with innovative technology design that would be user-friendly for older adults (2020).

Campbell presented an alternative view to the use of technology within LTCFs (2020). The author argues that a critical component of social connectivity involves physicality, where "sharing physical space and touch is a valuable feature of relationships with family and friends, with connection and love often expressed through eye contact, handshakes, hugs, or other forms of physical expression" (Campbell, 2020, p. 669). Despite technology assisting in maintaining social connection, the quality of these interactions is reduced due to the lack of physicality of the interaction. This is particularly ubiquitous for individuals experiencing cognitive decline or communication impairments who rely on physicality to communicate with others.

Technology has also become a new avenue for providing services to individuals within LTC, such as in healthcare (Day et al., 2020). Telehealth has become normalized, consisting of both telephone and video appointments (Day et al., 2020). It facilitates access to healthcare, where previously residents would have to be transported to a doctor's office or admitted to hospital. Additional benefits to telehealth programs are that they reduce cost and time. Telehealth allows residents to maintain some continuity of healthcare during the pandemic.

Staff Support of Social Interactions

In addition to technology, LTCFs can assist in maintaining and supporting safe social interactions (Chu et al., 2021). These relationships include between staff-resident, family-resident and resident-resident interactions. One example of supporting resident to resident interactions is with the relocation of LTCRs to rooms which are in proximity to friends, whom

they might not normally see unless engaging in a group activity. In supporting family to resident interactions, Switzerland installed a "visitors box" outside of the LTCFs. This allowed for a safe space for visitation between family member and LTCR which followed local infection control policies (Chu et al., 2021). Solutions such as these might not always be possible, but are a creative way to maintain social connection of LTCRs.

Monitoring and Assessment of Social Isolation

A final strategy suggested to mitigate the effects of SI on LTCRs is increased monitoring and assessment. Chu et al. (2021) suggests that standardized tools should be used by staff in order to inform clinicians and family members of wellness declines and assist in selecting appropriate interventions. These tools could be used to compare declines in SI across multiple jurisdictions, thereby identifying patterns and identifying the impacts of policies affecting SI.

Berg-Weger and Morely (2021) also propose using SI and loneliness assessment tools which can be administered quickly and easily, so as to decrease the burden of extra workload for LTC staff. The authors are awaiting psychometric validation for an assessment tool they have developed called the ALONE scale; however, other scales are available to measure SI and loneliness. One example question from the three item UCLA loneliness scale is 'how often do you feel that you lack companionship: Hardly ever (1), some of the time (2), or often (3)?' (National Academies for Sciences, Engineering and Medicine, 2020, p. 111). These tools might encourage staff members to ask about these experiences, which is rarely done (Berg-Weger & Morley, 2021).

Mezzo-Level Interventions

One intervention at the mezzo level which would address SI in LTCRs includes the development of evidence-based group interventions, such as Circle of Friends (Berg-Weger & Morley, 2021). Developed by the Helsinki University, this intervention involves weekly group

sessions with LTCRs incorporating a number of topics such as exercise and health content, art and other inspiring activities. Some of the positive outcomes identified by the Circle of Friends intervention include decreases in healthcare costs, SI and loneliness, and increases in wellbeing. Berg-Weger and Morley (2021) emphasize the importance in combatting SI and loneliness as a result of the pandemic, using innovative methods through the collaboration of interprofessional teams.

Day et al. (2020) propose other group interventions that target specific needs of LTCRs, deliver psychoeducational components and/or provide avenues for social connection through activities. For instance, LTCRs can be susceptible to chronic wounds, such as venous leg ulcers, due to the natural slowing of healing that accompanies older age. Given the impacts of chronic wounds on quality of life and the need for social connection, Day et al. (2020) suggest a leg club. Groups such as these "emphasizes the importance of wellbeing, social interaction, health promotion and education, delivering treatment in a non-clinical setting" (Day et al., 2020, p. 57). These types of clubs are flexible, tailored to the needs of the community, and are in partnership with volunteers and clinicians, whilst promoting social connection among members (Day et al., 2020). These innovate group interventions would require some tailoring to comply with local public health measures during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Two other possible interventions to combat SI include letter writing campaigns and intergenerational mixing. Letter writing campaigns typically involve volunteers who writer letters and include such things as poetry, inspirational messages and photographs to LTCRs. The aim for letter writing campaigns is to remind LTCRs that they are valued. Intergenerational programs have bidirectional benefits both for LTCRs and younger individuals (Hoffman et al., 2020). They include relationship building and social connectivity, improving younger

generations' positive behaviors and beliefs towards aging, and older adult cognition and functioning (Hoffman et al., 2020). Some programs involve younger generations providing companionship to older adults, caregiver respite, as well as LTCRs volunteering in schools (Hoffman et al., 2020). Intergenerational mixing also facilitates LTCRs' connection to life outside of LTCFs (Day et al., 2020). Taken to a structural level, intergenerational mixing can include the planned co-location of preschool and LTCFs (Day et al., 2020).

Macro-Level Interventions

SI and loneliness have come to the attention of the WHO, who report between 20 and 34% of older adults in China, Europe, Latin America and the United States of America experience SI (World Health Organization, 2021a). They devised a three-point strategy to combat SI and loneliness on a global scale. The first recommendation is to create a global coalition on SI and loneliness in order to increase awareness of the topic and make it a political priority. The aim is to bring about financial resources and human expertise to match the level of severity that is warranted on this topic. The next strategy is to address the research gaps of SI and loneliness, with a focus on identifying effective interventions to SI and loneliness. This includes the development of a standardized tool to measure SI and loneliness, which is absent from existing practice. The final strategy is to implement targeted and multi-faceted interventions involving multiple stakeholders and sectors. It includes laws and policies addressing discrimination and marginalization based upon age, promote social cohesion and intergenerational solidarity. This blanketed approach prescribed by the WHO is similar to that which has been advocated by Day et al. (2020). The authors suggests that SI and loneliness should be treated as a public health concern for older adults. SI and loneliness is an epidemic which has grown since the COVID-19 lockdown.

Critical Analysis of the literature

Exploration of the intersection of COVID-19, LTCRs and SI has stemmed from the upheaval of values systems surrounding the care of LTCRs. Due to significant media coverage, the general public has become aware of the state of LTCFs. This spotlight has also garnered research interest into the area of LTCRs, the pandemic and SI. Given the relatively recent emergence of COVID-19, relatively few studies on this topic were discovered. Additional limitations to the research are explored, including operationalization of terms, diversity of viewpoints, positionality, methodology, practical challenges and ethical constraints. The analysis of the literature concludes by arguing the importance of applying a critical social work lens to the topic of SI of LTCRs during COVID-19.

Operationalization

Research on SI and loneliness lacks consistent operationalization. As previously mentioned, these terms are often used interchangeably, but have differing meanings. The interrelatedness of these concepts has resulted in irregularities in both the measurement as well as definition of SI (Boamah et al., 2021). Within this major paper, some of the articles do not provide a definition of these terms, despite these terms being referred to on numerous occasions. This creates confusion for those in research and practice. Furthermore, the inconsistent operationalization of these terms poses challenges in applying meaningful comparisons (Boamah et al., 2021).

Diversity of Viewpoints

Missing from this topic are diverse viewpoints, such as from social workers, other professionals working within the LTC system and family members. Research fails to provide representation to some of these LTC stakeholders. This lack of diversity limits our understanding

of the topic through the paradigm of those who produce the research. For example, SI is often situated as a problem within an individual. This is common practice in a medical model which does not acknowledge structural factors contributing to SI, such as social determinants of health. Diverse viewpoints within the research of SI among LTCRs would provide alternative perspectives outside of medical model paradigms.

Positionality

The positionality of the researchers is an important consideration in the understanding of this topic. Reviewing the titles and roles of the research authors included in this major paper has revealed that they belong to the dominant hierarchy of society. Much of the literature on this topic was produced by researchers who have completed a PhD or who possess medical degrees. In multi-professional settings such as gerontology, medical perspectives often dominate (Ray et al., 2014). This provides a possible rationale for the overriding medical voice within the research. Not only are these individuals highly esteemed and valued in mainstream society, they are a product of a westernized educational system which reinforces dominant ways of research production through enlightenment "truth seeking" methods. These dominant viewpoints are partial, which is demonstrated by the narrow focus of SI as an individual concern. Individuals from alternative social positions may provide a greater depth of knowledge on the areas in which SI has impacted LTCRs during the pandemic.

Methodology

Research positionality not only limits the research topics, but also impacts the diversity of methodologies chosen to investigate this topic. Much of the research is limited to literature reviews, commentaries and few scoping reviews, utilizing an etic approach where the researcher takes an objective perspective to gather information and refrains from influencing the research

(Reid et al., 2017). This is in contrast to emic approaches which use inside perspectives to gather knowledge, and are branded as subjective forms of inquiry driven by researcher values (Reid et al., 2017). Only three studies were identified which diverged from these methodologies. The first was a study by Ayalon et al. (2020a). The authors used in-depth qualitative interviews of longterm residents in order to explore the experiences of LTCRs during the lockdown orders. A second study by Harden et al. (2020) approached the research through the examination of a case study of a 91-year-old LTCR. The authors examined the reoccurring themes of this case study. Finally, a report done by the Office of the Seniors Advocate of BC (2021) included a survey of LTC and assisted living staff within BC. They asked staff to reflect on how COVID-19 preventative measures impacted LTCRs' well-being. The lack of diverse methodology limits our understanding of SI of LTCRs during the COVID-19 pandemic. Research findings were interpreted through the lens of the researcher, which bolsters understanding of the topic through the researchers own paradigm rather than through representational strategies (such as quotes) which present and contextualize participant experiences (Reid et al., 2017). This lack of diversity in methodology and analysis may also be influenced by certain ethical and practical limitations affecting this topic.

Practical Challenges

Research within LTCFs during the pandemic can cause some practical challenges. The first practical consideration is the newness of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on LTCR experiences of SI and the limited amount of research. One of the challenges of this literature review was in locating research articles on this topic, as many articles found included letters to the editor and commentaries. These articles signal a need for further research in this area. A second practical consideration is a researcher's ability to carry out different methodologies

during the COVID-19 pandemic where limited in-person contact with individuals is encouraged. This can also prevent the use of certain methodologies, such as field observations, as well as hinder the acquisition of research participants. A final consideration which may limit the types of methodologies chosen may be time-constraints. For instance, many LTC facilities are experiencing staffing shortages. This may result in staff spending more of their time caring for residents in LTC facilities, constraining their free time to participate in other tasks, such as assisting researchers in facilitating interviews with residents. This is a possible reason that the focus of the literature relies on the interpretations of doctors and researchers both within the field and in academia.

Ethical Constraints

In addition to the practical constraints, there are ethical considerations to research within LTCFs which may have caused barriers to the use of alternate methodologies. The first ethical consideration relates to confidentiality. Institutional settings pose challenges for confidentiality due to the amount of surveillance and lack of private spaces within LTCFs. This can impact one's willingness to participate in a research project and provide honest feedback when the information shared may be unfavorable towards LTC operations, staff or residents. A second ethical consideration in research of LTC is consent. This can be especially challenging if one's research participants are residents within LTC facilities who may experience limited capacity. Arguably, it is easier to obtain consent from individuals such as medical doctors than other vulnerable populations. These ethical considerations may have been barriers to the use of alternative methodologies.

Social Work Lens

What is largely missing from this research is a social work lens. Social workers deliver a unique voice in social justice which is not often replicated by other professionals. To clarify ambiguity surrounding the term social justice, the author offers the following definition to ground the reader's understanding of this term:

Social justice means people from all identity groups have the same rights, opportunities, access to resources and benefits. It acknowledges that historical inequalities exist and must be addressed and remedied through specific measures including advocacy to confront discrimination, oppression, and institutional inequalities, with a recognition that this process should be participatory, collaborative, inclusive of difference, and affirming of personal agency. (Ash, 2020, para 7)

As a practicing social worker, one of the main concerns I have with this research is that the issue of SI and loneliness, and the proposed solutions, are situated at the individual level. This narrow view of SI disregards the ways in which our structures and agist beliefs reinforce SI. SI in not solely a concern of residents of LTC facilities, but permeates all ages and living situations. Humans evolved from living in groups of 20-30 people, all contributing towards the survival of the group. Thus, humans found meaning in group membership and relationships of mutuality, which is mirrored in RCT. The structural environments of LTCFs limits older adults' ability to maintain social connections with individuals outside of the facility and also limit LTCRs' ability to contribute, and have purpose, within LTCFs. Mutual relationships become one-sided, as LTCRs rely on staff to support their health and emotional needs. Day et al. (2020) suggested that LTCFs co-exist in the same location as preschool centres. This is just one possible integration between LTCFs and other centres which can co-create meaningful and mutual relationships

between LTCRs and others. These possible solutions also involve intergenerational mixing which can assist both younger and older generations in perspective taking, helping to counter ageist views. Tackling SI in a meaningful and enduring way must involve interventions at the macro level, involving multiple stakeholders and influencing politics.

Conclusion

Since the COVID-19 pandemic, SI has been exacerbated among LTCRs and has been termed a secondary pandemic. Residents of LTCFs are at heightened risk of experiencing SI due to LTCRs' communication barriers, LTCRs' cognitive impairment, lack of integration between the LTCF and broader community, social determinants of health and "oldering" (Boamah et al., 2021; Barbosa-Neves, 2019). Restrictive public health orders, such as the restriction of visitors, limited activities and interactions, and constrained movement of staff and volunteers have amplified SI within LTCF (Chu et al., 2021; Office of the Seniors Advocate of BC, 2021). RCT posits that disconnection results in numerous negative health outcomes (Jordan, 2018), which include negative mental health such as depression and anxiety in addition to increased risk of premature mortality (Bethell, 2021; Day et al., 2020). Family caregivers have voiced their concerns regarding these public health measures and have been mischaracterized as visitors to LTCFs (Tupper et al., 2020), rather than being acknowledged for the integral roles they serve in ensuring LTCRs receive the care that they need to lead fulfilling lives (Hado & Feinberg, 2020; Tupper et al., 2020).

Literature has revealed the role that ageism has played in the treatment of LTCRs within LTCFs during the COVID-19 pandemic. Older adults have been treated as a homogenous group, devalued by aging bodies and minds (Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020; Ivan et al., 2020). Ageism has framed public health policy and design, through protracted lockdown measures for older adults

and utilizing age as a criterion for who receives resource-scarce medical equipment and supplies (Fraser et al., 2020; Bravo-Segal & Villar, 2020). These ageist practices demonstrate the AOP notion of the biomedicalization of aging, where individuals "are reduced to aging bodies and minds in need of surveillance and treatment from a medical-industrial complex" (Baines, 2017, p. 194).

This raises ethical debate surrounding the treatment of LTCRs, including autonomy, surveillance, individual versus collective rights, in addition to bioethical concerns of harm and proportionality, reciprocity, transparency by government, the media and LTCFs, beneficence and non-maleficence and finally justice (Lively, 2021; Swiffen, 2020). In addition to ethical arguments surrounding public health measures, Cohen (2020) found that SI leads to greater susceptibility to infection and disease if exposed to COVID-19, as individuals with higher stress levels become more vulnerable to upper respiratory infection.

To ameliorate the effects of SI within LTCFs, interventions were proposed at the micro, mezzo and macro level. At the micro level, improved communication between LTCFs and family members, use of technology to maintain connection through the funding of devices by provincial medical services plans, LTCF staff support in supporting safe social interactions and the increased monitoring and assessment of SI of LTCRs were proposed. At the mezzo level, interventions included the group interventions which address a targeted health need while promoting social connection as well as intergenerational mixing and letter writing campaigns. Finally, macro interventions sought to tackle the structural components of SI by coalition building to bring increased awareness, address research gaps and developing targeted and multifaceted interventions which address underlying causes, such as ageism.

The research surrounding SI among LTCRs during the COVID-19 pandemic is a newly emerging area, with many opportunities for research. As most of the research is framed from a medical paradigm, there are opportunities for diverse perspectives such as social workers, to ensure that SI is not solely framed as an individual concern but from a broader perspective which includes the structural elements of ageism. In a micro practice, social workers should implement regular monitoring and assessment for SI of LTCRs. At the mezzo level, social workers should take on the role of advocacy against paternalistic policies which impact on LTCRs' autonomy in addition to supporting safe social interactions for LTCRs. Most importantly, social workers should address ageism and the structural system of LTC which precipitates SI through their involvement in coalition building and developing political awareness.

This research has provided a framework of understanding of SI among LTCRs during the pandemic, with room for further exploration. Further questions which could be explored within the context of LTCFs, is whether society is able to allow older adults to live at risk and whether consent should be requested prior to some of the restrictive public health measures placed upon LTCRs. With an aging population, more research is warranted to ensure that we maintain a healthy quality of life for older adults.

References

- American Psychological Association (2022). Socioeconomic status.
 - https://www.apa.org/topics/socioeconomic-status/
- Armstrong, P., Banerjee, A., Szebehely, M., Armstrong, H., Daly, T. & Lefance, S. (2009). *They deserve better: The long-term care experience in Canada and Scandinavia*. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.

https://eds.b.ebscohost.com/eds/detail/detail?vid=1&sid=66430764-ed42-439d-b6f6-17b26f078946%40pdc-v-

 $\underline{sessmgr05\&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWRzLWxpdmU\%3d\#AN=ufv.1710796\&db=cat00744a}$

- Ash, B.A. (2020, July 15). Defining Social Justice.
 - https://socialwork.du.edu/news/defining-social-justice
- Ayalon, L., Chasteen, A., Diehl, M., Levy, B., Neupert, S., Rothermund, K., Tesh-Römer, C., Wahl, H.W. (2020a). Aging in times of the COVID-19 pandemic: Avoiding ageism and fostering intergenerational solidarity. *Gerontological Society of North America*. Oxford University Press.
- Ayalon, L., Zisberg, A., Cohn-Schwartz, E., Cohn-Mansfield, J., Perel-Levin, S., & Siegal, E. (2020b). Long-term care settings in the times of COVID-19: challenges and future directions, *Aging Physiology*, *32*(10), 1239-1243.
- Baines, D. (Ed.). (2017). *Doing anti-oppressive practice: Social justice social work* (3rd ed.). Nova Scotia: Fernwood Publishing.
- Barbosa-Neves, B., Sanders, A. & Kokanović, R. (2019). "It's the worst bloody feeling in the world": Experiences of loneliness and social isolation among older people living in care homes. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 49, 74-84.

- Bethell, J., Aelick, K., Babineau, J., Bretzlaff, M., Edwards, C., Gibson, J-L., Colborne, D., Iaboni, A., Lender, D., Schon, D., & McGilton, K. (2021). Social connection in long-term care homes: a scoping review of published research on the mental health impacts and potential strategies during COVID-19. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 22, 228-237.
- Boamah, S., Weldrick, R., Lee, T-S., Taylor, N. (2021). Social isolation among older adults in long-term care: A scoping review. Journal of Aging and Health, 33(7-8), 618-632.
- Bravo-Segal, S. & Villar, F. (2020). Older people representation on the media during COVID-19 pandemic: A reinforcement of ageism? *Revista Espanola de Geriatria y Gerontologia*, 55(5), 266-271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regg.2020.06.002
- British Columbia Centre for Disease Control. (2021, August 6). Weekly Update on Variants of

 Concern. http://www.bccdc.ca/Health-Info-Site/Documents/VoC/VoC Weekly 08062021.pdf
- British Columbia Centre for Disease Control. (2021, December 17). Weekly Update on Variants of Concern. http://www.bccdc.ca/Health-Info-Site/Documents/VoC/VoC weekly 12172021.pdf
- Chonody, J.M. & Teater, B. (2018). Social Work Practice with Older Adults: An Actively Aging Framework for Practice. Sage Publishing.
- Chu, C., Donato-Woodger, S. & Dainton, C. (2020). Competing crises: COVID-19 countermeasures and social isolation among older adults in long-term care. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 76, 2456-2459.
- Cohen, S. (2020). Psychosocial vulnerabilities to upper respiratory infectious illness:

- Implications for susceptibility to Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Perspectives on Psychological Science, 16(1), 161-174.
- Day, P., Gould, J. & Hazelby, G. (2020). A public health approach to social isolation in the elderly. *Journal of Community Nursing*, 34(3), 54-56.
- D'cruz, M. & Banerjee, D. (2020). 'An invisible human rights crisis': The marginalization of older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic An advocacy review. *Psychiatry Research*, 292.
- Edström, M. (2018). Visibility patterns of gendered ageism in the media buzz: A study of the representation of gender and age over three decades. *Feminist Media Studies*, (18)1, 77-93. https://doi-org.proxy.ufv.ca:2443/10.1080/14680777.2018.1409989
- Fraser, S., Lagacé, M., Bongué, Ndeye, N., Guyot, J., Bechard, L., Garcia, L., Taler, V., Adam,
 S., Beaulieu, M., Bergeron, C., Boudjemadi, V., Desmette, D., Donizzetti, A., Éthier, S.,
 Garon, S., Gillis, M., Levasseur, M., Lortie-Lussier, M., Marier, P., Robitaille, A.,
 Sawchuk, K., Lafontaine, C. & Tougas, F. (2020). Ageism and COVID-19: What does
 our society's response say about us? *Age & Ageing*, *49*, 692-695.
- Government of Canada. (2020). *Canada Health Act*.

 https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/health-care-system/canada-health-care-system/canada-health-act.html
- Harden, K., Price, D., Mason, H. & Bigelow, A. (2020). COVID-19 shines a spotlight on the age-old problem of social isolation. *Journal of Hospice and Palliative Nursing*, 22(6), 435-441.
- Hindmarch, W., McGhan, G., Flemons, K. & McCaughey, D. (2021). COVID-19 and long-term

- care: The essential role of family caregivers. *Canadian Geriatrics Journal*, 24(3), 195-199.
- https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/ab75/24d4e63697c4a3eef37286026e0778cb3609.pdf?_g a=2.148982518.1325979052.1636408608-202845669.1605759120
- Hoffman, G., Webster, N., Bynum, J. (2020). A framework for aging-friendly services and supports in the age of COVID-19. *Journal of Aging and Social Policy*, 32(4-5), 450-459.
- Hou, M. & Wong, R. (2021). The impact of limiting family visits in long-term care during the COVID-19 pandemic in British Columbia. *University of British Columbia Medical Journal*, 12(2), 55-56.
- Ivan, L., Loos, E., Tudorie, G. (2020). Mitigating Visual Ageism in Digital Media: Designing for dynamic diversity to enhance communication rights for senior citizens. *Societies*, 10(4), 1-13. https://doi-org.proxy.ufv.ca:2443/10.3390/soc10040076
- Jordan, J. (2018). Relational-Cultural Therapy. American Psychological Association.
- Lenz, A.S. (2016). Relational cultural theory: Fostering the growth of a paradigm through empirical research. *Journal of Counselling and Development*, 94, 415-428.
- LeVasseur, A. (2021). Effects of social isolation on a tong-term care resident with dementia and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Geriatric Nursing*, 42, 780-781.
- Lively, C. (2021). Social isolation of older adults in long-term care as a result of COVID-19 mitigation measures during the COVID-19 pandemic: Protecting the individual or a means to an end? *Voices in Bioethics*, 7, 1-8.
- Office of the Seniors Advocate of British Columbia (2020, February). A billion reasons to care:

 A funding review of contracted long-term care in BC.

- $\underline{https://www.seniorsadvocatebc.ca/app/uploads/sites/4/2020/02/ABillionReasonsToCare.}\\ \underline{pdf}$
- Office of the Seniors Advocate of British Columbia (2021, October). Review of COVID-19

 outbreaks in care homes in British Columbia.

 https://www.seniorsadvocatebc.ca/app/uploads/sites/4/2021/10/Outbreak-Review-Report.pdf
- Miller, E. (2020). Protecting and improving the lives of older adults in the COVID-19 era. *Journal of Aging and Social Policy*, 32(4-5), 297-309.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine. (2020). Social isolation and loneliness in older adults: Opportunities for the health care system. Washington, DC:

 National Academies Press.
- Province of British Columbia: BC Laws (2021, October 27a). *Hospital act*.

 https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/96200 01
- Province of British Columbia (2021, October 27b). Community care and assisted living act.
- Province of British Columbia (n.d.). Long-term care services.
 - https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/accessing-health-care/home-community-care/care-options-and-cost/long-term-care-services
- Ray, M., Milne, A., Beech, C., Phillips, J., Richards, S., Sullivan, M., Tanner, D. & Lloyd, L. (2014). Gerontological social work: Reflections on its role, purpose and value. *British Journal of Social Work*, 45, 1296-1312.
- Reid, C., Greaves, L. & Kirby, S. (2017). *Experience Research Social Change* (3rd ed.). North York: University of Toronto Press.
- Smebye, K., Kirkevold, M. & Engedal, K. (2016). Ethical dilemmas concerning autonomy when

persons with dementia wish to live at home: a qualitative, hermeneutic study. *BMC Health Medical Research*, 16(21).

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4717656/

- Statistics Canada. (2018). Living arrangements of seniors: Proportion of seniors living in special care facilities increases with age. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/as-sa/98-312-x/98-312-x2011003_4-eng.cfm#bx2
- Stewart, R. & Jordan, R. (2021, August 2). Alberta government declares COVID pandemic over.

 World Socialist Website. https://www.wsws.org/en/articles/2021/08/03/alpa-a03.html
- Swiffen, A. (2020, May 14). The one vs the many: When public health conflicts with individual rights. *Centre for Constitutional Studies*.

 https://www.constitutionalstudies.ca/2020/05/the-one-vs-the-many-when-public-health-conflicts-with-individual-rights/
- Tupper, S., Ward, H. & Parmar, J. (2020). Family presence in long-term care during the COVID-19 pandemic: Call to action for policy, practice, and research. *Canadian Geriatrics*Journal, 23(4), 335-339. https://cgjonline.ca/index.php/cgj/article/view/476/593
- Wadman, M. (2022, March 4). When is a pandemic 'over'? World Health Organization prepares to confront thorny decision. https://www.science.org/content/article/when-pandemic-over
- World Health Organization. (2021a). Decade of Healthy Aging. Advocacy brief: Social isolation and loneliness among older people. Retrieved from:

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240030749

World Health Organization. (2021b). About WHO. Retrieved from: https://www.who.int/about/